DEVELOPMENT OF A NON-DISPERSIVE INFRARED CO₂ SENSOR-BASED SYSTEM FOR ASSESSING SOIL TOXICITY USING SUBSTRATE-INDUCED RESPIRATION

By

Jasmeen Kaur

Department of Bioresource Engineering

Macdonald Campus of McGill University

Montreal, Canada

February, 2015

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the

degree of

Master of Science

© Jasmeen Kaur, 2015

ABSTRACT

Soil pollution due to anthropogenic petroleum hydrocarbon (PHC) spills has become a major environmental hazard. The eco-toxicological indicators used to evaluate soil quality complement physico-chemical criteria employed in contaminated site remediation. But their cost, time consumption, sophisticated analytical methods and *in-situ* inapplicability pose a major challenge to the rapid detection and mapping of the extent of the soil contamination. This research describes a sensor based approach for measuring potential (substrate-induced) microbial respiration in PHC-contaminated and non-contaminated soil and hence, indirectly evaluates their microbial activity. A simple CO₂ sensing system was developed using an inexpensive nondispersive infrared (NDIR) CO₂ sensor and was successfully deployed to differentiate between the control and diesel-contaminated soils in terms of CO₂ emission after glucose addition. Glucose was used as a substrate at an optimal concentration of 25 mg g⁻¹, dissolved in deionized water to adjust the soil moisture to 80% of water holding capacity (WHC) and sprayed over 20 g soil samples to trigger microbial respiration and hence, CO_2 emission. The sensor was able to distinguish glucose-induced CO₂ emission from sterile and control soil samples ($p \le 0.0001$). Acetone was used as an organic solvent to spike soil samples with phenanthrene and was found to suppress CO₂ emission from phenanthrene-contaminated soil samples after incubation. Significant effects of diesel contamination ($p \le 0.0001$) and soil type ($p \le 0.0001$) on glucoseinduced CO₂ emission were found. The sensing system can provide *in-situ* evaluation of soil microbial activity, an indicator of soil quality and is a promising tool for the initial screening of contaminated environmental sites and for creating high spatial density maps at a relatively low cost.

RÉSUMÉ

La pollution du sol causée par des déversements d'hydrocarbures pétroliers (PHC) anthropiques est devenue une menace environnementale majeure. Les indicateurs écotoxicologiques, utilisés pour évaluer la qualité des sols, complémentent les critères physicochimiques utilisés lors de l'assainissement de sites contaminés. Par contre, les coûts, les délais, les méthodes analytiques sophistiquées et l'inapplicabilité in-situ présentent des défis majeurs pour la détection rapide et la cartographie de l'étendue de la contamination du sol. Cette recherche présente une approche basée sur des capteurs servant à mesurer le potentiel de respiration microbienne (induite par un substrat) pour des sols contaminés et non contaminées aux HCP, et par conséquent à évaluer indirectement leur activité microbienne. Un système simple de détection du CO₂ a été développé en utilisant un capteur de CO₂ infrarouge non dispersif (NDIR) peu coûteux et est parvenu à différencier les sols contaminés au diesel de ceux de références en matière d'émissions de CO₂ après l'ajout de glucose. Ce dernier a été utilisé comme substrat à une concentration optimale de 25 mg g⁻¹, dissous dans l'eau déminéralisée, pour ajuster l'humidité du sol à 80% de sa capacité de rétention de l'eau (WHC), et pulvérisé sur des échantillons de 20 g de sol pour déclencher la respiration bactérienne et donc les émissions de CO_2 . Le capteur a pu distinguer les émissions de CO_2 induites par le glucose de celles des échantillons de sol stérile et de référence ($p \le 0.0001$). De l'acétone a été utilisée comme solvant organique pour charger de phénanthrène les échantillons de sol et s'est avérée éliminer les émissions de CO₂ de ces échantillons de sol contaminés aux phénanthrènes après l'incubation. La contamination au diesel ($p \le 0.0001$) et le type de sol ($p \le 0.0001$) ont démontré avoir des effets significatifs sur les émissions de CO₂ induites par le glucose. Le système de détection peut fournir une évaluation in-situ de l'activité microbienne du sol, un indicateur de sa qualité, et est un outil prometteur pour effectuer l'examen préliminaire de sites environnementaux contaminés et pour créer des cartes à haute densité spatiale à des coûts relativement bas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the many people who have helped me through the completion of this thesis. Foremost, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thanks to my supervisor Dr. Viacheslav Adamchuk for his continuous support during my M. Sc. study and research and for his patience, motivation, immense knowledge and caring attitude. I will always value this opportunity to work with him.

I would like to thank Dr. Ashraf Ismail for serving on my graduate committee and for his encouragement and insightful comments. Also, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Joann Whalen for her expert advice and valuable suggestions, especially during the initial part of this research.

I thank all of the faculty and staff members in the department of Bioresource Engineering for providing a friendly atmosphere for research work. I offer my appreciation to David Meek for his co-operation in the laboratory. My sincere gratitude also goes to all my fellow members of the Precision Agriculture and Sensor Systems research team, especially Hsin-Hui Huang, Ahmad Mat Su, Yue Su and Francisco Ruiz de la Macorra for their time-to-time help with the project. I also thank Darline Canning for editing my thesis and Frédéric René-Laforest and Antoine Pouliot for translating the abstract of the thesis into French.

A heartfelt thanks to all my friends (Sunny, Kanwal, Harjyot, Gagan, Shikha, Ramy, Sukhjot and many more) who have remained a great support and motivation for me throughout. I cannot adequately express my gratitude to my dear parents and brother for their constant support, love and encouragement. Above all, I thank God for all His blessings.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

The research work of this thesis has been submitted for publication in a peer-reviewed journal. The author of this thesis was responsible for the development and evaluation of NDIRbased CO₂ sensor system. The author also designed and carried out the experimental and analytical work to meet the research objectives of this thesis. She is also responsible for the preparation of the manuscript based on this thesis. Dr. Viacheslav Adamchuk, an Associate Professor in Department of Bioresource Engineering of McGill University, is the thesis supervisor. He created the idea for this research and offered scientific advice and technical guidance throughout the study. He is also responsible for editing and reviewing the prepared manuscript. Dr. Ashraf Ismail is an Associate Professor in the Department of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry of McGill University; he constantly provided scientific suggestions for this study as a member of the author's graduate committee and helped with the development of the system with his insight on soil toxicity. Dr. Joann Whalen is an Associate Professor in Department of Natural Resource Sciences of McGill University and provided valuable recommendations, especially during the preliminary phase of this research. She inspired the idea of focusing on quantifying soil biota respiration and helped with the experimental design for the evaluation of the system.

Publication related to the thesis

 Kaur, J., Adamchuk, V.I., Whalen, J.K., and Ismail, A.A. Development of an NDIR CO₂ sensor-based system for assessing soil toxicity using substrate-induced respiration. *Sensors* (in press).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
RÉSUMÉ	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	v
Publication related to the thesis	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	X
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Objectives	
2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
2.1. Laboratory-scale methods	
2.2. Bioavailability	
2.3. Bioindicator-based assays	7
2.4. Toxicity assays	
2.4.1. Acute toxicity tests	
2.4.2. Chronic toxicity tests	
2.5. Soil toxicity and soil microbial ecology	
2.6. Soil respiration	
2.7. Substrate-induced respiration	
2.8. CO ₂ sensors	
2.9. In-situ measurement of soil respiration	
3. MATERIAL AND METHODS	
3.1. Sensor system development	
3.2. Sensor system evaluation	
3.2.1. Soil Sampling	
3.2.2. Substrate optimization	
3.2.3. Preliminary evaluation	
3.2.4. PAH treated soils experiment	

3.2.5. Diesel treated soils experiment	
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1. Glucose optimization	
4.2. Preliminary evaluation: untreated and sterile soils	
4.3. Soil toxicity evaluation: phenanthrene treated soils experiment	
4.4. Soil toxicity evaluation: diesel treated soils experiment	
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	
6. LIST OF REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	53
A. Block diagram of data acquisition system	53
B. SAS models and codes for different experiments	54
B-1. Glucose optimization experiment	54
B-2. 2 by 2 factorial design for preliminary sensor evaluation	55
B-3. PAH treated soils experiment	56
B-4. Diesel treated soils experiment	57

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Physical and chemical properties of collected soil samples	20
Table 4.1. Analysis of variance of the CO ₂ concentration from sterile and control soil sample	s.27
Table 4.2. Analysis of variance of the CO ₂ concentration from diesel-treated and control soils	s29

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 2.1. Internal structure of an NDIR CO ₂ sensor (adapted from Wang et al., 2005) 14
Fig. 3.1. Front and back view of CO ₂ Engine [®] K30
Fig. 3.2. Glucose-induced CO ₂ emission sensing system for soils integrated with NDIR-based
K30 CO ₂ sensor
Fig. 3.3. Illustration of the response of NDIR-based CO ₂ sensor system for sterile and control
samples of organic soil. The glucose solution was added 6 minutes after placing the system over
a petriplate containing the soil sample and the CO ₂ emission data collected between 8 and 11
minutes were used for the calculation of CO_2 emission min ⁻¹
Fig. 3.4. Three sampling locations on the gamma ray count map of Field 26 of Macdonald
Campus Farm, McGill University
Fig. 3.5. Molecular structure of phenanthrene
Fig. 4.1. Emission of CO ₂ measured with the NDIR-CO ₂ sensor from three soils amended with
aq. glucose at concentrations from 0 to 25 mg g ⁻¹ soil. Error bars represent standard deviation of
five replicates
Fig. 4.2. Emission of CO ₂ measured with the NDIR-CO ₂ sensor from three soils for the
treatments: CG: control soil sample added with aq. glucose, CD: control soil sample added with
deionized water, SG: sterile soil sample added with aq. glucose and SD: sterile soil sample added
with deionized water. Error bars represent standard deviation of three replicates
Fig. 4.3. Emission of CO ₂ measured with the NDIR-CO ₂ sensor from three control or
phenanthrene-contaminated soils incubated for 20 days, prior to the glucose addition. Error bars
represent standard deviation of three replicates
Fig. 4.4. Emission of CO ₂ measured with the NDIR-CO ₂ sensor from three control or diesel-
contaminated soils incubated for 7 days, prior to the glucose addition. Error bars represent
standard deviation of three replicates
Fig. A-1. Main VI to receive CO ₂ sensor analog output from Arduino UNO and log into a text
file
Fig. A-2. Sub-VI to read and average CO ₂ sensor analog output collected via Arduino UNO53

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ABC	Automatic baseline correction
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
FID	Flame ionisation detector
FTIR	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
GC	Gas chromatography
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HSD	Honest significant difference
IRGA	Infrared gas analyzers
MS	Mass spectrometry
MEMS	Micro-electro-mechanical systems
NDIR	Non-dispersive infrared
РНС	Petroleum hydrocarbons
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
NASICON	Sodium (Na) super ionic conductor
SOM	Soil organic matter
SWC	Soil water content
SPE	Solid phase extraction
SIR	Substrate-induced respiration
U.S. EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WHC	Water holding capacity

1. INTRODUCTION

Soil is a complex and dynamic biological system that directly and indirectly influences the quality of human life. It is essential for plant growth, nutrient cycling and maintaining the O_2/CO_2 balance of the atmosphere. It acts as the ultimate sink for most waste products. A number of chemicals have been introduced claiming to increase agricultural yield and to improve human life e.g., pesticides, metals and petroleum products. Increased use of these xenobiotic compounds has resulted in their release into soil and other environmental resources, as well as water and the atmosphere.

Research on the distribution and fate of various pollutants in the ecosystems emphasized their harmful impacts on both ecosystems and living organisms. Consequently, soil pollution is viewed with apprehension and has become a major environmental concern. Petroleum hydrocarbons (PHCs) are common environmental contaminants. They are complex mixtures of aliphatic, alicyclic and aromatic compounds and enter terrestrial ecosystems due to surface spills or leaks from pipelines or storage tanks (Potter and Simmons, 1998).

Since the recent research has been focusing the remediation and reclamation of PHCcontaminated sites, rapid, low cost and effective *in-situ* technologies are required to assess the scope and level of PHC contamination at a remediation site. Laboratory-based techniques are sensitive and accurate, but are costly and time-consuming. Moreover, they do not take into account the bioavailability (Peijnenburg et al., 2004) of the pollutant. PHCs get entrapped within a soil or sediment matrix and become increasingly resistant to desorption and less bioavailable to soil biota. Various bioindicator-based assays have also been introduced, but their synthesis is challenging. Eco-toxicological tests directly determine the possible hazards of pollutants on soil ecology. In general, acute and chronic soil toxicity tests are conducted by collecting soil samples from the polluted site and sending them to the laboratory for testing; they offer the advantage of assessment of bioavailability of the pollutants. Alternatively, several toxicity test kits have been developed in which test organisms are exposed to the soil sample on site. Such tests actually are performed in a mobile laboratory system which has been brought to the site. This system has reagents for extracting the PHCs and the test organism vials for their detection using a battery-powered instrument. These tests are performed under standard laboratory conditions, not site conditions and, hence, should not be confused with *in-situ* tests because *in-situ* tests expose a given organism at the site under actual environmental conditions, such as temperature, pH, and light. Hence, a promising *in-situ* soil PHC toxicity evaluation technology is required for the initial biological risk assessment of a contaminated site. Site toxicity data from such an *in-situ* test would prove to be a more realistic assessment of toxicity than data from any analytical or biological laboratory tests. Ultimately, it would help to characterize the actual ecological risk of a polluted site.

An important element in the characterization of petroleum-contaminated sites is the rate of microbial activity. Soil respiration rates have been used to measure microbial activity since the latter part of the 1800s and have also been used effectively to measure soil contamination. While basal respiration only measures the "potential" soil microbial community, substrateinduced respiration (SIR) adds a labile substrate (e.g., glucose) to maximize the respiration rate and can be used to determine the total microbial activity present in the soil.

Currently, commercially available chamber systems (e.g., Li-Cor Li-8100) integrated with portable infrared gas analyzers (IRGAs) are used to measure soil CO₂ efflux *in-situ*. To improve the efficiency and lower the cost of these chamber systems, a number of simplified nondispersive infrared-based (NDIR-based) sensors are available now (Yasuda et al., 2012). Such systems can be modified to measure SIR responses and hence, act as a rapid tool for quantifying the eco-toxicological impact of contaminants. They provide promising tools for the initial risk assessment of contaminated environmental sites by creating high spatial density maps at a relatively low cost. Potential applications range from former industrial sites to oil and gas industry locations which need to be remediated to convert these land resources into alternative uses. Moreover, they can be applied to measure the soil "quality" of agriculture soils, in general, as they determine the "potential" microbial community present in the soil (Doran and Zeiss, 2000).

1.1. Objectives

The objectives of this study were to develop and evaluate an NDIR-based CO₂ sensor system suitable for *in-situ* deployment to measure soil CO₂ emissions in response to added glucose, based on the SIR method and to investigate its suitability for toxicity assessment of PHC-contaminated soils. In particular, the following tasks were to be achieved: 1) to design and test a CO₂ sensor installed in a closed chamber to measure potential (or induced) soil CO₂ emission, 2) to optimize the substrate concentration to be used for SIR experiments, 3) to investigate the applicability of the newly designed NDIR-based CO₂ sensor system to distinguish between soil samples contaminated with different levels of PHCs in terms of SIR rates.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

PHCs may be introduced into the soil as a result of their accidental discharge during transportation, leakage from storage tanks or due to pipeline ruptures (Nicolotti and Egli, 1998). Crude oil spillage has a significant effect on soil properties (e.g., soil pH, hydraulic conductivity, total nitrogen (N), available phosphorus (P)) that reduces the fertility of agricultural soils (Essien and John, 2010). In addition, crude oil contaminated soils have been proven to be toxic to both flora and fauna (Dorn et al., 1998; van Gestel et al., 2001; Wong et al., 1999) and dangerous to human health (Ordinioha and Brisibe, 2013).

Diesel oil is a complex PHC derived from crude oil distillation (Air Force, 1989). It is composed of low molecular weight alkanes and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs; Adam and Duncan, 1999). PAHs constitute 5-30% of diesel oil (Air Force, 1989). PAHs also exist in soil due to the incomplete combustion of coal, oil, petroleum, and wood (Saim et al., 1997), or due to petrochemical industrial activities (Jaouen-Madoulet et al., 2000). The fate of PAHs is a huge concern as they are toxic, carcinogenic and/or mutagenic priority micro-pollutants listed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA; Keith and Telliard, 1979). Thus, recent research has been focusing on the development and investigation of various chemical and biological methods for hydrocarbon remediation of contaminated sites. Development of technologies to rapidly assess the scope and level of PAH pollution at a relatively low cost and within a short time (Wang et al., 1990) provides a means of improving management decisions for site remediation and assists the hydrocarbon remediation research initiatives.

2.1. Laboratory-scale methods

Common approaches to determine the total concentration of hydrocarbon pollutants in soil focus on sophisticated, time consuming, laboratory based analytical techniques. PHCs are lipophilic in nature and show affinity towards the soil organic matter (SOM; Kleineidam et al., 2002) due to sorption (Golding et al., 2005). Sorption is a phase distribution process due to solutes which accumulate at surfaces and interphases (i.e., adsorption) of solids or are transported from one phase to another (i.e., partitioning). So, the quantification of PHCs in soil requires powerful extraction techniques to release the strongly sorbed contaminants from the soil material. The steps followed for the analytical determination of PAH pollutants in soil are as follows:

2.1.1. Pretreatment, which increases both the homogeneity of the soil and the extractability of the analytes in the soil. The sample pretreatment includes sieving, air-drying, grinding (Wischmann et al., 1996) and/or acidification (Bergknut et al., 2004) of soil samples.

2.1.2. Extraction, which releases the contaminants from the soil matrix and quantitatively transfers them to an organic solvent. The extraction solvent has a major effect on the extraction process. Dichloromethane and toluene are preferred due to their medium polarity or mixtures of polar and non-polar solvents are also used. Hexane, acetone/hexane (1:1 v/v), dichloromethane-acetone (1:1 v/v), dichloromethane-ethanol (1:1 v/v), n-butanol (Hatzinger and Alexander, 1995), methanol (Codina et al., 1994), are also used. Extraction techniques include ultrasonic extraction (Eiceman et al., 1980), soxhlet extraction (Arment, 1999), pressurized fluid extraction (Saim and Dean, 1998), pressurized hot water extraction, microwave assisted extraction (Lopez-Avila et al., 1994) and supercritical fluid extraction (Hartonen et al., 2000).

2.1.3. Clean up, to remove the co-extracted compounds that could interfere with subsequent analysis. The fractionation of PHCs can be performed by adsorption chromatography, open column chromatography (Saponaro et al., 2002), solid phase extraction (SPE; Meyer et al., 1999) or high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)(Brooks et al., 1998).

2.1.4. Instrumental analysis, which separates, identifies and quantifies the individual analytes in the sample. Both the HPLC (Berset et al., 1999) and gas chromatography techniques such as GC/FID (U.S. EPA, 1996a), GC/MS (U.S. EPA, 1996b) and GC/FTIR (U.S. EPA, 1994a) are considered to be equally valid approaches to analyze PAHs, though GC/MS is preferred over the others (Disdier et al., 1999).

The advantages of these methods include their high accuracy and sensitivity towards the PHCs. However, these methods involve lengthy extraction processes for target contaminants, large volumes of extraction solvents and require instruments with high infrastructure and operating costs (Sporring et al., 2005). Moreover, the toxic effects of a pollutant in the soil depend, not only on its chemical properties and the quantity present, but also upon the amount that is bioavailable, to be absorbed or up taken by the biota (Peijnenburg et al., 2004).

2.2. Bioavailability

Bioavailability plays an important role in the fate of organic pollutants and their effects on individual species and populations (Debus and Hund, 1997; Wahle and Kördel, 1997). It implies that within a given timeframe, only a fraction of the total amount of a chemical substance present in an environmental sample, e.g., soil, is available for uptake by living organisms, and subsequently may induce adverse effects (Peijnenburg et al., 2004). Bioavailability of PHCs is markedly affected by soil properties, e.g., SOM content and the clay content (Chung and Alexander, 2002; Nam et al., 1998). However, laboratory-based methods are not suitable for biological assessments of polluted soil as they do not evaluate the toxicity, synergistic or antagonistic effects of given pollutants (Juvonen et al., 2000) on soil organisms. Consequently, a battery of bioindicator-based and toxicity-based assays (Bispo et al., 1999; Greene et al., 1988) on soil biota is used to determine the possible hazards of pollutants on soil ecology (Tang et al., 2011).

2.3. Bioindicator-based assays

Enzymes are directly involved in the degradation of hydrocarbons to simple molecules such as water and carbon dioxide and hence, may be used as potential bioindicators. Enzymes that have been used for this purpose include soil lipases (Margesin et al., 2000), dehydrogenases (Casida, 1977), catalases and ureases (Margesin and Schinner, 1997). Biolog plates have been widely used to characterize stressed soils (Bossio and Scow, 1995; Bundy et al., 2002) that measure the specific dehydrogenase activity of environmental samples upon exposure to water-soluble carbon substrates. The main advantage of enzymatic tests is that they offer an easy method of measurement, but a disadvantage is their indirect approach. Not all enzymes are synthesized by the bacterial cells at the same amount and both enzyme production and enzyme activity are highly regulated biomechanisms (Brock and Madigan, 1991). These methods have limited *in-situ* applicability as they also require pollutant extraction from the soils (Preston-Mafham et al., 2002).

Antibodies have an ability to bind selectively to the specific physical structure of the target analyte present in a sample matrix, such as soil. The availability of antibodies against small molecules, such as PAHs, accompanied by detection systems such as amperometric, capacitative, conductometric, potentiometric, fluorimetric, radioactive and UV detection

(González-Martínez et al., 1999) allowed the use of immunochemical procedures for environmental monitoring (Van Emon and Gerlach, 1998). The most commonly used immunoassay for this purpose is the enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Fillmann et al., 2007). Immunoassays are sensitive, selective, reliable, easy to use and can be operated at low cost, but the development of bioassays especially for small molecules, such as PAHs, is time consuming, costly and intensive (Fähnrich et al., 2002).

2.4. Toxicity assays

Toxicity tests measure lethal and/or sublethal effects that are known as measurement or response endpoints i.e., they are easily measurable ecological attributes that may be adversely affected by exposure to organic contaminants and are related to an assessment endpoint. Hence, a measured endpoint can be used to approximate the assessment endpoint if the assessment endpoint itself cannot be measured directly (U.S. EPA, 1992).

2.4.1. Acute toxicity tests

Acute toxicity tests are short-term survival assays that measure the effects of exposure to relatively high concentrations of contaminants. Percent mortality of organisms exposed to a polluted sample is compared to percent mortality of organisms exposed to an unpolluted sample. Alternatively, dilution of the pollutant at which 50 percent of the organisms died, called the LC50, is the median lethal concentration (U.S. EPA, 1989). Aquatic bioassays are used for the assessment of the ecotoxic potential of soils towards aquatic and soil-dwelling organisms. The two most frequently used bioassays in aquatic ecotoxicity testing are the luminescence-based *Vibrio fischeri* test and the immobilization-based *Daphnia magna* test (Bispo et al., 1999). In a luminescence-based assay, bacterial luminescence is linked to electron transport (Ismailov et al.,

1981) and is negatively correlated with an increase in the toxicity of a pollutant after bacterial luminescence. *Vibrio fischeri* are used as test organisms in commercial luminescence inhibition assays (Microtox Assay; ISO, 1998a) as well as in the Solid-Phase Flash-Assay (Lappalainen et al., 2000). In the immobilization-based assay, the water flea *Daphnia magna* is immobilized during an exposure period of 48 hours. Immobilisation and abnormal behaviour is recorded at 24 and 48 hours and compared with control values (DaphtoxkitTM Assay; OECD, 2012). These tests are performed on soil leachates that contain a pollutant (Tiensing et al., 2001)

2.4.2. Chronic toxicity tests

Chronic toxicity tests measure the sub-lethal effects of contaminants on test organisms during long term exposure. Sublethal effects include growth reduction, reproductive impairment, nerve function damage, lack of motility, behavioural changes, and the development of structural abnormalities (U.S. EPA, 1994b). Seed germination and earthworm survival assays are widely used for measuring chronic soil toxicity (Greene et al., 1988). These tests are sensitive to changes in soil toxicity during remediation of PHC contaminated soil (Dorn et al., 1998). Other standard methods include eco-toxicology tests for plants (ISO, 1995) and earthworms (ISO, 1993, 1998b) to measure acute and chronic soil toxicity. Also, reproduction of *Ceriodaphnia* magna over 7 days (AFNOR, 2004) is used as a chronic toxicity indicator. Chronic toxicity tests are less frequently performed than acute tests (Francois-Férard and Ferrari, 2005). Toxicity tests are useful to identify the bioavailability of pollutants and they have a simple methodology and moderate sensitivity (Maila and Cloete, 2002); nevertheless, they involve considerable time, cost and expertise and have limited *in-situ* applicability as they also involve an organic solvent and a vacuum/ speed extractor (Grossmann and Udluft, 1991) for pollutant extraction from soil solid. Moreover, tests with soil-dependent organisms are more important with respect to soil

ecotoxicity testing (Keddy et al., 1995), but few ecotoxicity studies have used soil organisms (Sverdrup et al., 2002). Hence, the focus has shifted to finding a way to overcome the limitations of soil toxicity assessments.

2.5. Soil toxicity and soil microbial ecology

The notion of soil "quality" refers to soil functionality (Doran and Zeiss, 2000) whereas soil "health" is defined by the ability of the soil to promote plant, animal and human health and sustainability (Gil-Sotres et al., 2005). However, due to the environmental impact of contaminants and treatments (Cébron et al., 2011), the quality and health of polluted and remediated soils may not be the same as native soils. In soils, carbon (C) and nutrient cycles (e.g., C mineralization, nitrification etc.) are driven by microorganisms (Nannipieri et al., 1990) and play an important role in both soil quality and soil heath. Hence, it becomes crucial to assess the microbial ecology of contaminated and treated soils.

Recent research has shown that PHCs have a significant impact on microbial community abundance (Chen et al., 2014), composition and diversity in soil depending upon the degree of hydrocarbon contamination (Hawrot-Paw, 2012; Sutton et al., 2013). Bacteria and fungi present in soil are susceptible to the toxic effects of such contaminants (Dawson et al., 2007) and once affected, they disturb the proper functioning of the soil (Cébron et al., 2011). Thus, the soil microbial activity in a hydrocarbon-contaminated soil can be used as an indicator of the level of hydrocarbon contamination present in the soil.

2.6. Soil respiration

One of the simplest methods to measure soil microbial activity is based on soil respiration. Assessment of soil respiration by measuring the soil CO_2 production or O_2

consumption allows the metabolic activity of soil micro-organisms to be quantified (Nannipieri et al., 1990). The basal respiration (BR) is defined as respiration without adding any organic substrate to the soil. The SIR involves the measurement of microbial respiration of soil after adding an excess of a readily available nutrient source, usually glucose, to trigger microbial activity (Anderson and Domsch, 1978).

Many studies have reported soil respiration measurements as a means of determining soil toxicity (Martí et al., 2007; Montserrat et al., 2006). Anderson and Domsch (1978) suggested that the respiration rate induced by glucose is proportional to the size of the original soil microbial biomass and hence, can be used as an indicator to determine the microbial biomass in the sample. The quotient of the actual (basal) and potential (substrate-induced) respiration rates was correlated with PAH concentration at a contaminated site (Hund and Schenk, 1994). Margesin et al. (2000) also used SIR as one of the monitoring parameters during the decontamination of a mineral-oil-contaminated soil. Currently, CO₂ evolved by microbial respiration from soil samples is determined by a simple colorimetric reaction in gas absorbent alkali (Campbell et al., 2003), but this is cost ineffective when a large number of samples are involved as the method involves replacing the CO₂ probe with each sample (Brinton and Haney, 2013).

2.7. Substrate-induced respiration

The reason that SIR could be adapted to a rapid sensor-based detection method is due to the short time-frame of microbial response. Upon the addition of the substrate, respiration rapidly increases to a maximum and remains at a constant rate for more than 4 h (Drobník, 1960). The strong differences, in terms of time of incubation, between the reported studies arise from the different objectives of the various studies. Anderson and Domsch (1978) made CO_2 emission measurements after 1 h incubation with glucose and correlated them with absolute soil microbial biomass. Lin and Brookes (1999) chose 0.5-2.5 h after glucose addition as the best estimator of the SIR rate. Ananyeva et al (2011) recorded CO₂ emission within 2-5 h after the application of glucose to evaluate respiration differences between unamended and amended soil samples with added solid and aqueous glucose. Dilly (2001) measured CO₂ emission within 4-24 h after the addition of glucose and targeted the calculation of microbial respiration quotients. The recent studies support a time span of 8 - 24 hours (Brinton and Haney, 2013; Haney et al., 2008) to estimate soil C, N and P mineralization and to correlate soil biological activity with potentially mineralizable N.

The SIR rate is strongly affected by soil water content (SWC; Wardle and Parkinson, 1990). For reliable SIR measurements, the substrate should be distributed evenly throughout the soil sample. Adding a substrate solution instead of a powder gives the best distribution of substrate in soil and is analytically convenient (Lin and Brookes, 1999). However, using a substrate solution might cause an underestimation of CO_2 due to its retention in solution (West and Sparling, 1986). The quantity of substrate needed to achieve a saturated respiration response also needs to be determined for each soil and depends upon the physical and chemical properties of the soil (Anderson and Domsch, 1978).

2.8. CO₂ sensors

To improve the efficiency of soil microbial respiration based methods, a number of simplified CO_2 sensors are available now (Yasuda et al., 2012). A sensor is a device or a system which has the function of converting a physical variable input into a signal variable output. Voltage (electrical circuits), displacement or forces (mechanical systems) are commonly used as

signal variables (Holman, 2011). A number of simplified sensors have been developed for monitoring CO₂ concentrations.

Based on the sensing mechanism, these CO₂ sensors can be broadly classified as electrochemical (or solid state) and optical sensors (Neethirajan et al., 2009). Electrochemical CO₂ sensors are based on a variety of principles (ampere-, conducto-, and potentiometry) and materials (metal oxides, polymers, ceramics, or sol-gel) (Capone et al., 2004; Moseley, 1997). They can be further divided into metal oxide (Barsan and Weimar, 2001), NASICON (Zhu et al., 2005) and polymer-based CO₂ sensors (Tongol et al., 2003). They make use of micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS) and nanotechnologies and are highly sensitive, but have problems with limited measurement accuracy and short-time stability (Neethirajan et al., 2009). The most common commercially available CO₂ sensors are non-dispersive infrared detectors (NDIR) because of their low cost, compact size, easy process control, mass production, and continuous measurement (Lee and Lee, 2001).

The basic principle of NDIR CO₂ sensors is the energy absorption characteristics of CO₂ in the infrared region (Adachi et al., 1992). CO₂ is known to absorb infrared radiation at wavelengths of 2.7, 4.3 and 15 μ m (Skoog et al., 2006). Generally, the wavelength of the near 4.3 μ m (Oberly et al., 1968) region is preferred because of maximum absorption and insignificant interference at this band. The radiation emitted at this wavelength is associated with CO₂ by the Lambert-Beer law (Kwon et al., 2009; Wagner et al., 1991) given by:

$$\frac{I_d}{I_0} = e^{-\alpha.c.l} \tag{1}$$

where, I_d is the intensity of the radiation detected at a wavelength of 4.28 µm, I_0 is the intensity if the incident radiation, α is the absorption coefficient of the CO₂, *c* is the CO₂ concentration and *l* is the optical path length from the source to the detector.

NDIR CO₂ sensors (Figure 2.1) consist of a pulse-driven IR lamp (i.e., light source), a perforated sampling tube (or chamber), two optical filters, and two IR detectors (thermopiles) (Pandey and Kim, 2007). A reflection mirror is attached behind the IR lamp, and an inner wall of the pipe is plated to make emitted IR reach the thermopiles. One thermopile monitors the intensity of light through an optical bandpass filter with 4.0 μ m center wavelength, and the other measures the IR absorption due to CO₂ concentration through an optical bandpass filter with a 4.26 μ m center wavelength. The difference of these two raw signals provides the signal output (Wang et al., 2005).



Fig. 2.1. Internal structure of an NDIR CO₂ sensor (adapted from Wang et al., 2005)

2.9. In-situ measurement of soil respiration

Different chamber techniques have been developed to measure soil CO₂ efflux *in-situ*. These chambers can be divided into three categories: closed static, closed and open dynamic chambers (Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). In closed chambers (e.g., static and dynamic), there is no exchange with the surrounding air and CO₂ efflux is calculated from the slope of the CO₂ concentration increase within the chamber over time (Hutchinson and Mosier, 1981; Jensen et al., 1996). Currently, portable infrared gas analyzers (IRGAs; Koepf, 1954) have been integrated in both open (Fang and Moncrieff, 1996) and closed (Rochette et al., 1992) chambers to develop commercially open (e.g., PP-Systems CFX-1) and closed chambers (e.g., Li-Cor Li-8100). Eddy covariance systems (Norman et al., 1992) measure CO₂ efflux at a height of 1-2 m above the ground and are mounted on towers above the vegetation (Law et al., 1999) to measure their net ecosystem exchange. The cost of these systems is a major hindrance.

Hence, the availability of these low cost NDIR CO₂ sensors can be harnessed to measure soil respiration by integrating these sensors into small systems developed to measure soil CO₂ efflux suitable for *in-situ* deployment and can easily be modified to determine SIR responses and hence, assess the "potential" microbial community present in the soil.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1. Sensor system development

The CO₂ Engine[®] K30 CO₂ Sensor (SenseAir, Delsbo, Gävleborg, Sweden)¹ (Fig. 3.1.) was used for this study. It is inexpensive (under \$100 USD) and has a measurement range between 0 - 5000 ppm with an accuracy of \pm 30 ppm and \pm 3% of measured value. Its small size (51 × 57 × 14 mm) enabled its integration into a small, closed CO₂ system to be used for the study. Its sampling chamber is a gold-plated labyrinth.



Fig. 3.1. Front and back view of CO₂ Engine[®] K30

No calibration is required during testing because of the built-in self-correcting ABC (Automatic Baseline Correction) algorithm. Infrared CO_2 sensors are prone to drift of the zero baseline of the calibration curve, which is set by default at the fresh air value of 400 ppm CO_2 . The ABC algorithm is a "low pass filter" that takes advantage of the fact that the CO_2 level

¹ Mention of a trade name, proprietary product, or company name is for presentation clarity and does not imply endorsement by the authors, the McGill University, nor does it imply exclusion of other products that may also be suitable.

nearly falls to outside fresh air in buildings when unoccupied. It constantly keeps track of the sensor's lowest reading over a 7.5 day interval (by default) and slowly rescales the sensor probe for any long-term drift detected as compared to the expected 400 ppm CO₂, hence, updating the sensor calibration regularly.

A small closed static system (non-steady-state non-thorough-flow system) for CO₂ gas collection and quantification from soil samples was constructed (Fig. 3.2.). The K30 CO₂ sensor was placed on top of the system. To spray glucose solution over the soil sample uniformly, two nozzles attached to two clear PVC (polyvinyl chloride) tubes were integrated into the system. These pipes were attached to a syringe that aided the introduction of glucose solution into the pipes that fed glucose to the nozzles.



Fig. 3.2. Glucose-induced CO₂ emission sensing system for soils integrated with NDIR-based K30 CO₂ sensor

Data acquisition software for the K30 sensor was developed using LabView (National Instruments Corporation, Austin, TX) software. An Arduino UNO (Smart Projects, Strambino, Turin, Italy) was used as a microcontroller to power the sensor and to receive analog output; it

was connected to a laptop computer via a USB serial port. Analog voltage data output received from the sensor at 1 Hz was logged in a tab delimited text file. The collected data were analyzed using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., NC, USA) software suite.

An illustration of the sensor response for sterile and control samples of organic soil over an extended period of 15 minutes is shown in Fig. 3.3. For data acquisition, the system was placed over the petriplate containing 20 g of the sample, the glucose solution was sprayed 6 minutes after the start of the experiment and the CO₂ emission data were collected for another 9 minutes. The data collected between 8 and 11 minutes (3 minutes in total), after glucose addition, were used for the calculation of CO₂ emission min⁻¹. For regular experiments, glucose was added 1 minute after the start of the experiment. The experiment spanned 6 minutes. The difference in CO₂ concentration between sterile and control soil samples at t = 0 is due to different experiment execution time and CO₂ concentration varies indoors throughout the day.

3.2. Sensor system evaluation

3.2.1. Soil Sampling

Three soil samples (1: organic, classified as histosol, 2: sandy loam, classified as gleysol and 3: sandy clay loam, classified as gleysol (WRB, 2006)) were collected from Field 26 of the Macdonald Campus Farm, McGill University, Quebec, Canada (45° 30'N, 73° 35'W); they were selected on the basis of the variability of their key physical and chemical properties (Table 3.1) and total count derived from gamma-ray spectrometry using SoilOpticsTM (Practical Precision Inc., Tavistock, Ontario, Canada) (Fig. 3.4.). The soil samples were air dried for 7 days prior to analysis to reduce the contribution of roots to the total SIR response (West and Sparling, 1986), but the moisture content was maintained between 10-12% (gravimetric moisture content) to sustain the activity of the soil microbial community. No grinding or sieving of the soils was done, so that the soil aggregate structure was maintained to simulate *in-situ* conditions.



Fig. 3.3. Illustration of the response of NDIR-based CO₂ sensor system for sterile and control samples of organic soil. The glucose solution was added 6 minutes after placing the system over a petriplate containing the soil sample and the CO₂ emission data collected between 8 and 11 minutes were used for the calculation of CO₂ emission min⁻¹.

3.2.2. Substrate optimization

Glucose was chosen as a substrate for the study because it can be utilized as a carbon source by most soil microorganisms (Stotzky and Norman, 1961). It was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Co. (Oakville, Ontario, Canada). For each soil, five replicates of 20 g air-dry (a. d.) soil, were amended with a series of glucose concentrations (0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 mg g⁻¹ of soil) in solution (to adjust soil moisture to 80% of water holding capacity (WHC) of each soil) and CO₂ concentration was recorded for 5 minutes with the sensor described in Fig. 3.2., to determine the optimal glucose concentration.



Fig. 3.4. Three sampling locations on the gamma ray count map of Field 26 of Macdonald Campus Farm, McGill University.

Sample	Sand,	Silt,	Clay,	OM,	WHC,		Р	K	Ca	Mg	Al
No.	%	%	%	%	%	рН			mg kg ⁻¹	l	
1	36.5	40.2	23.3	63.3	50	6.9	78	108	10700	1700	206
2	62.4	24.6	13.0	7.8	16	5.9	104	56	1460	190	1082
3	46.5	27.9	25.6	7.5	20	7.4	100	124	3600	622	461

Table 3.1. Physical and chemical properties of collected soil samples

3.2.3. Preliminary evaluation

Next, an initial experiment was performed to check the applicability of the designed system for soils with, and without, microbial activity. All three soils were divided into four sub-samples, consisting of untreated soil for optimal glucose solution addition (control-glucose, CG), untreated soil for deionized water addition (control- deionized water, CD), autoclaved soil for glucose solution addition (sterile-glucose, SG) and autoclaved soil for deionized water addition

(sterile-deionized water, SD). Sterilization of soil samples was done by autoclaving the samples 3 times at 121°C and 15 psi for 1 h on alternate days (Greene et al., 2000).

3.2.4. PAH treated soils experiment

Phenanthrene (C₄H₁₀, Fig. 3.5), a neutral, 3-ring organic compound, was selected as a representative PAH. Its environmental properties, such as aqueous solubility, octanol–water partition coefficient (K_{ow}), and vapor pressure are similar to other PAHs, such as acenaphthene, fluoranthene, and fluorine (Schwarzenbach, 2002). It is predominant in coal-derived oils and automobile exhaust (Shabad, 1980) along with pyrene. Similarity of its parent molecular structure to the structure of higher molecular weight and more carcinogenic PAHs, such as benzo(a)pyrene, makes it an adequate representative compound that can give a general indication of PAH behaviour (Khodadoust et al., 2004). It has an aqueous solubility of 1.1 mg/L at 25°C (Schwarzenbach, 2002).



Fig. 3.5. Molecular structure of phenanthrene

To treat the soil samples with different concentrations of phenanthrene, stock solution of phenanthrene (1 g/L) was prepared in acetone. Each of the three soils were moistened to 10-12% (gravimetric moisture content) and homogenized with a stainless steel spatula. 0 μ L,10 μ L, 50 μ L, 100 μ L, 0.5 mL, 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 6.4 mL of the stock solution was taken and the final volume of 8 mL was made adding acetone to obtain a final concentration of 0, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 25 and 64 mg of phenanthrene kg⁻¹ of soil, respectively. Approximately 10 g of the wet soil was

spiked with the above solutions at first. The soil was placed in a 1 L glass jar and mixed manually with a stainless steel spatula. The rest of the soil was gradually added to the glass jars in 5 g aliquots and extensively mixed with the spiked soil. This procedure was repeated until the entire amount of soil (100 g) was added and mixed (Brinch et al., 2002). The jars were closed hermetically for 5 minutes and left overnight under a flow hood. 5% (v/w) extra distilled water was added to cover water evaporation losses overnight (Scelza et al., 2007) and the samples were incubated for 20 days at 22°C. The moisture content was maintained at 10-12% over the period of incubation by periodically adding appropriate amounts of deionized water to the samples.

After incubation, triplicate subsamples (20 g of moist soil) were taken from each control and phenanthrene-contaminated soil and transferred onto petriplates, for a total of 72 petriplates (3 replicate subsamples \times 8 phenanthrene treatments \times 3 soil types). For each soil type, an optimal concentration of glucose (described above) was added into the volume of water required to reach 80% of WHC of each soil and was sprayed uniformly over the soil sample in the petriplate. The CO₂ concentration was determined for five minutes with the sensor system shown in Fig. 3.2., to determine toxicity response.

3.2.5. Diesel treated soils experiment

Each of the three soils were moistened to a moisture content of 10-12% (gravimetric moisture content), and homogenized with a stainless steel spatula. Five diesel treatments (0, 5, 20, 60 and 150 mg g⁻¹ of soil) were applied to each soil. For diesel incorporation, soil samples (500 g each) were spread on aluminum trays to a depth of 1 cm. Diesel fuel (density 836 g L⁻¹ at 15 °C) was applied over the surface of 1 cm deep soil by spraying uniformly from a spray bottle, so that it completely covered the surface of the soil with a thin layer of diesel. It was then allowed to penetrate the soil for 5 to 10 minutes, after that it was mixed thoroughly by hand

several times (Siddiqui and Adams, 2002). Then the control and diesel-contaminated soils were transferred to 1 kg plastic containers. The pots were covered with loosely fitted perforated lids and were incubated at 22 °C for 7 days. After incubation, triplicate subsamples (20 g of moist soil) were taken from each control and diesel-contaminated soil and transferred onto petriplates, for a total of 45 petriplates (3 replicate subsamples × 5 phenanthrene treatments × 3 soil types). An optimal concentration of glucose (described above) was added to the volume of water required to reach 80% of WHC of each soil; this was sprayed uniformly over the soil sample in the petriplate and the CO₂ concentration was determined.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Glucose optimization

The data (Fig. 4.1) represented for optimization of glucose concentration for SIR is a result of five replicates. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to determine the effect of various glucose concentrations using PROC GLM (the General Linear Model procedure). There was a significant effect of the addition of glucose on CO_2 evolution min⁻¹ at the p < 0.05. Post hoc comparisons using the Tukey's HSD (Honest Significant Difference) test indicated that the mean score for the 10 mg g^{-1} glucose addition was significantly greater than the no sugar control, but no other glucose addition rates were different from the control among soil types. Hence, CO₂ emission following the addition of glucose solution increased rapidly to a maximum rate at 10 mg glucose g⁻¹ soil for all three soil types. Variability of CO₂ emission among soil replicates can be explained by micro-habitats and micro-environments found in soil subsamples that leads to micro-scale heterogeneity in composition of the soil microbial community (De Bellis et al., 2007; Carson et al., 2009; Haack et al., 1995) The CO₂ emission rates increased by 2.5-fold, 4.6-fold and 2.8-fold for soil 1, 2 and 3, respectively when the glucose concentration in the solution was increased from 0 mg g^{-1} soil to 10 mg g^{-1} soil and decreased with higher glucose concentrations. Hence, a glucose concentration of 10 mg g^{-1} soil was used to induce SIR for all soils in the subsequent tests.

Anderson and Domsch (1978) found a range of 5 to 50 μ M glucose (g soil solution⁻¹) soil to be optimal for 12 soils and Ananyeva et al. (2011) reported the range of 2-15 mg g⁻¹ to result in a similar optimal respiration response. West and Sparling (1986) found optimal respiration rates at 10 mg glucose g⁻¹ soil (60 mg mL⁻¹ soil water) for three soils. They also reported a significant decrease in CO_2 emission after the glucose addition exceeded 10 mg mL⁻¹ soil water due to increased water osmotic potential to levels which inhibit respiration in this soil. These findings support the selection of glucose concentration of 10 mg glucose g⁻¹ soil for the SIR test.



Fig. 4.1. Emission of CO₂ measured with the NDIR-CO₂ sensor from three soils amended with aq. glucose at concentrations from 0 to 25 mg g⁻¹ soil. Error bars represent standard deviation of five replicates.

4.2. Preliminary evaluation: untreated and sterile soils

ANOVA was carried out using PROC GLM to determine the effect of four treatments for testing the applicability of the sensor to differentiate between control and sterile soils. The treatment means were compared by Tukey's HSD test at $\alpha = 0.05$. The results showed that there was a significant effect of different treated soils ($p \le 0.0001$) and soil type ($p \le 0.01$) on CO₂ emission min⁻¹ (Fig. 4.2; Table 4.1). The interaction term between soil and treatment type was significant at $p \le 0.05$, but non-significant at $p \le 0.01$. Post hoc comparisons of treatment means showed that CO₂ emission from control soil samples with added aq. glucose (CG) was significantly greater than the sterile soil samples with added aq. glucose (SG) for all three soil types ($p \le 0.0001$). CO₂ emission from sterile soil samples was found to be negligible in the

closed chamber over a period of 5 minutes, which led to the estimated slope of CO_2 concentration over time being close to 0 μ L L⁻¹ min⁻¹(±5 μ L L⁻¹ min⁻¹). The results supported the assumptions that the sensor is able to differentiate between CO_2 emission from soils with variable amounts of microbial activity and the glucose solution incorporation significantly increases the microbial respiration in soils under toxicity stress. The latter proves that the respiration rate of microorganisms increases within a few minutes after adding glucose.



Fig. 4.2. Emission of CO₂ measured with the NDIR-CO₂ sensor from three soils for the treatments: CG: control soil sample added with aq. glucose, CD: control soil sample added with deionized water, SG: sterile soil sample added with aq. glucose and SD: sterile soil sample added with deionized water. Error bars represent standard deviation of three replicates.

0-6 hours following the addition of substrate is usually considered as representative of the initial microbial response before biomass growth (Degens and Harris, 1997). Our purpose is to investigate the *in-situ* applicability of an NDIR CO₂ sensor-based system for evaluation of soil toxicity in terms of diesel amendment. We assumed that the microbes in the toxic soil do not need a long time to metabolize the glucose and their respiration will be triggered quickly. Hence,

the CO₂ emission data between 2-5 min after aq. glucose addition were used for the measurement of CO₂ emission min⁻¹ from the soil samples.

Source	Degree of	Sum of	Mean	F value	Pr > F
	Freedom	Squares	Squares		
CO ₂ min ⁻¹ (between group)	11	1.13	0.11	15.16	< 0.0001
Error (within group)	24	0.16	0.01		
Total	35	1.29			

Table 4.1. Analysis of variance of the CO₂ concentration from sterile and control soil samples

4.3. Soil toxicity evaluation: phenanthrene treated soils experiment

The phenanthrene treatment at different rates showed a significant ($p \le 0.0001$) impact on soil CO₂ emission (Fig. 4.3.). The post hoc comparison of treatment means using Tukey's HSD test at $\alpha = 0.05$ showed that a significant difference existed only between control and phenanthrene-contaminated soils (p = 0.05) irrespective of the level of contamination or soil type. Significantly decreased CO₂ emission from control soil samples treated with acetone was observed.

Acetone is routinely used as an organic solvent to spike soil with PAHs in the laboratory (Brinch et al., 2002), but has been reported to kill soil microorganisms (Klimkowicz-Pawlas and Maliszewska-Kordybach, 2008) and to decrease soil CO₂ emission more than 10 times (Núñez et al., 2009). This explains the decreased CO₂ emission from control soil samples treated with acetone in the present study. Acetone was also found to suppress CO₂ emission from phenanthrene-contaminated soil samples. Thus, avoiding the use of organic solvents for spiking the soils with PHCs was considered crucial for the experiment and was achieved by choosing diesel as a PHC contaminant for the three soil samples.



Fig. 4.3. Emission of CO₂ measured with the NDIR-CO₂ sensor from three control or phenanthrenecontaminated soils incubated for 20 days, prior to the glucose addition. Error bars represent standard deviation of three replicates.

4.4. Soil toxicity evaluation: diesel treated soils experiment

The diesel treatment at different rates indicated different CO_2 emission patterns in terms of the level of SOM. There was a significant effect of both degree of diesel contamination (p \leq 0.0001) and soil type (p \leq 0.0001) on CO₂ emission min⁻¹ (Fig. 4.4.; Table 4.2.) after an incubation period of 7 days. The interaction term between soil type and rate of diesel contamination was significant at p = 0.005. Post hoc comparison of treatment means, using Tukey's HSD test, showed that it was possible to differentiate between the control and contaminated soil (p \leq 0.0001) and that all three soils were distinguishable from one another at p \leq 0.05.



Fig. 4.4. Emission of CO₂ measured with the NDIR-CO₂ sensor from three control or diesel-contaminated soils incubated for 7 days, prior to the glucose addition. Error bars represent standard deviation of three replicates.

5					
Source	Degree of	Sum of	Mean	F value	Pr > F
	Freedom	Squares	Squares		
CO ₂ min ⁻¹ (between group)	14	1.03	0.07	19.13	< 0.0001
Error (within group)	30	0.11	0.01		
Total	44	1.13			

Table 4.2. Analysis of variance of the CO₂ concentration from diesel-treated and control soils

The presence of high rates of SOM may decrease the accessibility of pollutant to microorganisms. In such a case, the hydrophobic compounds get partitioned into the organic fraction of soil and their bioavailability is reduced due to their entrapment in the solid phase of the organic matter (Nam et al., 1998) resulting in a decrease in their toxicity towards microbial populations (Liu et al., 2012).

Soil 1, organic soil containing 63.3% SOM, showed the microbial SIR rate similar to that of the control when diesel contamination was used, showing a slight decrease in respiration with increasing diesel concentrations. It confirms the lesser bioavailability of diesel hydrocarbons to soil microorganisms as a consequence of higher SOM. Similar results have also been observed by several other authors (Bauer et al., 1991; Labud et al., 2007). The soils 2 and 3 (mineral soils) contained 7.8 and 7.5% of organic matter, which implied the soil has a major amount of mineral matter, acts as an adsorbent (Bosma et al., 1997; Chiou, 2002). Thus, most of the diesel hydrocarbon was adsorbed on the soil solid; it was bioavailable to micro-organisms and proved detrimental to their survival and activity. Significantly low SIR rates in diesel-contaminated samples of soils 2 and 3 as compared to the control samples indicated the inability of the microorganisms to metabolize added PHC as a substrate during the first week after the addition. An initial lag phase, during which microbial respiration was inhibited, has also been reported in polluted soil samples with low SOM in previous studies (Labud et al., 2007; Siddiqui and Adams, 2002). This lag phase suggests that microorganisms need an initial period of time to adapt to the presence of hydrocarbons in the medium before using them as substrates (Löser et al., 1999). Hence, microbial respiration hit a lag phase immediately after the diesel addition, before its expected increase (Hawrot-Paw, 2012).

The results reported above and the previous literature favour the usage of the SIR and the proposed NDIR CO₂ sensor-based system for toxicity evaluation of hydrocarbon contaminated soils. Bauer et al. (1991) found SIR to be inappropriate for the determination of microbial activity of contaminated and non-contaminated soils, but cited low sensitivity of the method used as one of the probable reasons. Many remediation studies have been reported that correlated SIR to the level of organic toxicity present in soil, in addition to other biological indicators. Shi et al.

(2005) found that there were characteristic differences of glucose-induced microbial respirations in the response of contaminated and non-contaminated soils. Pietravalle and Aspray (2013) found distinct catabolic diversity between hydrocarbon contaminated soils using multiple SIR assays. Degens and Harris (1997) also utilized differences between the SIR responses of microbial communities to simple organic compounds to quantify catabolic diversity of soil microbial communities. However, the integration of the SIR approach with a NDIR CO₂ sensorbased system for soil respiration measurements has not been reported yet.

To put this in perspective, a longitudinal study on a contaminated site can be performed using the sensor system and the correlation of CO_2 emission data collected with physicochemical parameters can be evaluated over time.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Increased use and production of petroleum-based products has led to an increase in the PHC concentrations in soils. The application of eco-toxicological indicators to evaluate soil quality of contaminated sites is preferable to arbitrary chemical criteria for contaminated soil remediation initiatives. But the high cost, sophistication and *in-situ* inapplicability of such biological indicators are major hindrances. This research presented a sensor based approach that indirectly measures potential (induced) biological activity in the soil and hence, could be used to support physiochemical criteria for site assessment and remediation. The performance of a simple CO₂ sensing system integrated with an inexpensive NDIR CO₂ sensor was successfully evaluated for its ability to differentiate between three different diesel-contaminated and non-contaminated soils. The current design can be modified easily for *in-situ* applicability. The sensor's ability to differentiate between glucose-induced CO₂ emission from sterile and control soil samples ($p \le 0.0001$) and diesel-contaminated and non-contaminated soil samples ($p \le 0.0001$) and diesel-contaminated and non-contaminated soil samples ($p \le 0.0001$) and diesel-contaminated and non-contaminated soil samples ($p \le 0.0001$) supported its applicability to determine soil toxicity, specifically, and soil quality, in general.

As the design and development of sensor integrated CO₂ sensing systems to evaluate both active (BR) and potential (SIR) soil biological activity and hence, soil quality, has not yet been explored, the outlook for such research is promising. It eliminates the barriers for *in-situ* applications of the evaluation of biological activity of environmental sites. Such methods may prove to be promising tools for the initial assessment of the level of contamination and for the determination of highly contaminated areas to become the focus of the final physiochemical evaluation. Moreover, they can be used as an indicator of soil quality of agriculture soils as they determine the potential microbial community present in the soil.

6. LIST OF REFERENCES

- Adachi, M., Yamagishi, Y., Inoue, K., and Ishida, K. (1992). Automotive emission analyses using FTIR Spectrophotometer (SAE Technical Paper No. 920723). Warrendale, PA: SAE International. Retrieved from http://papers.sae.org/920723/
- Adam, G., and Duncan, H. J. (1999). Effect of diesel fuel on growth of selected plant species.
 Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 21(4), 353–357. doi: 10.1023/A:1006744603461
- AFNOR. (2004). Qualité du sol—Evaluation des effets génotoxiques sur végétaux supérieurs— Evaluation de la fréquence d'apparition de micronoyaux dans les racines secondaires de Vicia faba (AFNOR NF T90–327). Saint Denis, France: Association Française de Normalisation.
- Air Force. (1989). The installation restoration program toxicology guide: Volume 4. Contract no. 1891-A076-Al. (DOE interagency agreement no. 1891-A076-Al.). Wright Patterson Air Force Base, OH: Harry G. Armstrong Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory, Aerospace Medical Division, Air Force Systems Command.
- Ananyeva, N. D., Susyan, E. A., and Gavrilenko, E. G. (2011). Determination of the soil microbial biomass carbon using the method of substrate-induced respiration. *Eurasian Soil Science*, 44(11), 1215–1221. doi: 10.1134/S1064229311030021
- Anderson, J. P. E., and Domsch, K. H. (1978). A physiological method for the quantitative measurement of microbial biomass in soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 10(3), 215– 221. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(78)90099-8

Arment, S. (1999). Current trends and developments in sample preparation. LCGC, 17(6), 8–13.

- Barsan, N., and Weimar, U. (2001). Conduction model of metal oxide gas Sensors. *Journal of Electroceramics*, 7(3), 143–167. doi: 10.1023/A:1014405811371
- Bauer, E., Pennerstorfer, C., Holubar, P., Plas, C., and Braun, R. (1991). Microbial activity measurement in soil: a comparison of methods. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 14(2), 109–117. doi: 10.1016/0167-7012(91)90040-W
- De Bellis, T., Kernaghan, G., and Widden, P. (2007). Plant community influences on soil microfungal assemblages in boreal mixed-wood forests. *Mycologia*, *99*(3), 356–367.
- Bergknut, M., Kitti, A., Lundstedt, S., Tysklind, M., and Haglund, P. (2004). Assessment of the availability of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from gasworks soil using different extraction solvents and techniques. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(8), 1861-1866.
- Berset, J. D., Ejem, M., Holzer, R., and Lischer, P. (1999). Comparison of different drying, extraction and detection techniques for the determination of priority polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in background contaminated soil samples. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 383(3), 263–275. doi: 10.1016/S0003-2670(98)00817-4
- Bispo, A., Jourdain, M. J., and Jauzein, M. (1999). Toxicity and genotoxicity of industrial soils polluted by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). *Organic Geochemistry*, *30*(8, Part 2), 947–952. doi: 10.1016/S0146-6380(99)00078-9
- Bosma, T. N. P., Middeldorp, P. J. M., Schraa, G., and Zehnder, A. J. B. (1997). Mass transfer limitation of biotransformation: quantifying bioavailability. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 31(1), 248–252. doi: 10.1021/es960383u

- Bossio, D. A., and Scow, K. M. (1995). Impact of carbon and flooding on the metabolic diversity of microbial communities in soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *61*(11), 4043-4050.
- Brinch, U. C., Ekelund, F., and Jacobsen, C. S. (2002). Method for spiking soil samples with organic compounds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(4), 1808–1816. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.4.1808-1816.2002
- Brinton, W., and Haney, R. (2013). Solvita CO₂-burst respiration: a rapid means to gauge soil biological activity and potentially mineralizable nitrogen. Presented at the International Symposium on Soil and Plant Analysis, New Zealand.
- Brock, T. D., and Madigan, M. T. (1991). *Biology of Microorganisms* (6th edition). New York, NY: Prentice-Hall.
- Brooks, L. R., Hughes, T. J., Claxton, L. D., Austern, B., Brenner, R., and Kremer, F. (1998).
 Bioassay-directed fractionation and chemical identification of mutagens in bioremediated soils. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *106*(6), 1435–1440.
- Bundy, J. G., Paton, G. I., and Campbell, C. D. (2002). Microbial communities in different soil types do not converge after diesel contamination. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 92(2), 276–288. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01528.x
- Campbell, C. D., Chapman, S. J., Cameron, C. M., Davidson, M. S., and Potts, J. M. (2003). A rapid microtiter plate method to measure carbon dioxide evolved from carbon substrate amendments so as to determine the physiological profiles of soil microbial communities by using whole soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(6), 3593–3599. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.6.3593-3599.2003

- Capone, S., Forleo, A., Francioso, L., Rella, R., Siciliano, P., Spadavecchia, J., Presicce, D. S., et al. (2004). Solid state gas sensors: state of the art and future activities. *ChemInform*, 35(29). doi: 10.1002/chin.200429283
- Carson, J. K., Campbell, L., Rooney, D., Clipson, N., and Gleeson, D. B. (2009). Minerals in soil select distinct bacterial communities in their microhabitats. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 67(3), 381–388. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00645.x
- Casida, L. E. (1977). Microbial metabolic activity in soil as measured by dehydrogenase determinations. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *34*(6), 630–636.
- Cébron, A., Cortet, J., Criquet, S., Biaz, A., Calvert, V., Caupert, C., Pernin, C., et al. (2011). Biological functioning of PAH-polluted and thermal desorption-treated soils assessed by fauna and microbial bioindicators. *Research in Microbiology*, *162*(9), 896–907. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2011.02.011
- Chen, J., He, F., Zhang, X., Sun, X., Zheng, J., and Zheng, J. (2014). Heavy metal pollution decreases microbial abundance, diversity and activity within particle-size fractions of a paddy soil. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 87(1), 164–181. doi: 10.1111/1574-6941.12212
- Chiou, C. T. (2002). Partition and Adsorption of Organic Contaminants in Environmental Systems. Hoboken, N. J.: Wiley.
- Chung, N., and Alexander, M. (2002). Effect of soil properties on bioavailability and extractability of phenanthrene and atrazine sequestered in soil. *Chemosphere*, 48(1), 109-115.
- Codina, G., Vaquero, M. T., Comellas, L., and Broto-Puig, F. (1994). Comparison of various extraction and clean-up methods for the determination of polycyclic aromatic

hydrocarbons in sewage sludge-amended soils. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 673(1), 21–29. doi: 10.1016/0021-9673(94)87053-5

- Dawson, J. J. C., Godsiffe, E. J., Thompson, I. P., Ralebitso-Senior, T. K., Killham, K. S., and Paton, G. I. (2007). Application of biological indicators to assess recovery of hydrocarbon impacted soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(1), 164–177. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.06.020
- Debus, R., and Hund, K. (1997). Development of analytical methods for the assessment of ecotoxicological relevant soil contamination: Part B — Ecotoxicological Analysis in Soil and Soil Extracts. *Chemosphere*, 35(1–2), 239–261.
- Degens, B. P., and Harris, J. A. (1997). Development of a physiological approach to measuring the catabolic diversity of soil microbial communities. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29(9–10), 1309–1320. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00076-X
- Dilly, O. (2001). Microbial respiratory quotient during basal metabolism and after glucose amendment in soils and litter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *33*(1), 117–127. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00123-1
- Disdier, B., Arfi, C., Pastor, J., Pauli, A. M., and Portugal, H. (1999). Analysis by GC-MS of monocyclic and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in thermolysed waste products. *Analusis*, 27(3), 235–240. doi: 10.1051/analusis:1999112
- Doran, J. W., and Zeiss, M. R. (2000). Soil health and sustainability: managing the biotic component of soil quality. *Applied Soil Ecology*, Special issue: Managing the Biotic component of Soil Quality, 15(1), 3–11. doi: 10.1016/S0929-1393(00)00067-6

- Dorn, P. B., Vipond, T. E., Salanitro, J. P., and Wisniewski, H. L. (1998). Assessment of the acute toxicity of crude oils in soils using earthworms, microtox[®], and plants. *Chemosphere*, 37(5), 845–860. doi: 10.1016/S0045-6535(98)00089-7
- Drobník, J. (1960). Primary oxidation of organic matter in the soil. *Plant and Soil*, *12*(3), 199–211. doi: 10.1007/BF01343649
- Eiceman, G. A., Viau, A. C., and Karasek, F. W. (1980). Ultrasonic extraction of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and other organic compounds from fly ash from municipal incinerators. *Analytical Chemistry*, 52(9), 1492–1496. doi: 10.1021/ac50059a025
- Van Emon, J. M., and Gerlach, C. L. (1998). Environmental monitoring and human exposure assessment using immunochemical techniques. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 32(2), 121–131. doi: 10.1016/S0167-7012(98)00019-0
- Essien, O. E., and John, I. A. (2010). Impact of crude oil spillage pollution and chemical remediation on agricultural soil properties and crop growth. *Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management*, *14*(4), 147–154.
- Fähnrich, K. A., Pravda, M., and Guilbault, G. G. (2002). Immunochemical detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). *Analytical Letters*, 35(8), 1269–1300. doi: 10.1081/AL-120006666
- Fang, C., and Moncrieff, J. B. (1996). An improved dynamic chamber technique for measuring
 CO₂ efflux from the surface of soil. *Functional Ecology*, 10(2), 297. doi: 10.2307/2389856
- Fillmann, G., Bicego, M. C., Zamboni, A., Fileman, T. W., Depledge, M. H., and Readman, J.W. (2007). Validation of immunoassay methods to determine hydrocarbon contamination

in estuarine sediments. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, *18*(4), 774–781. doi: 10.1590/S0103-50532007000400016

- Francois-Férard, J., and Ferrari, B. (2005). Wastoxhas: A bioanalytical strategy for solid wastes assessment. In C. B. D.Sc and J.-F. Férard (Eds.), *Small-scale Freshwater Toxicity Investigations* (pp. 331–375). Springer Netherlands. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/1-4020-3553-5_12
- Van Gestel, C. A., van der Waarde, J. J., Derksen, J. G., van der Hoek, E. E., Veul, M. F., Bouwens, S., Rusch, B., et al. (2001). The use of acute and chronic bioassays to determine the ecological risk and bioremediation efficiency of oil-polluted soils. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 20(7), 1438–1449.
- Gil-Sotres, F., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leirós, M. C., and Seoane, S. (2005). Different approaches to evaluating soil quality using biochemical properties. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37(5), 877–887. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.10.003
- Golding, C. J., Smernik, R. J., and Birch, G. F. (2005). Investigation of the role of structural domains identified in sedimentary organic matter in the sorption of hydrophobic organic compounds. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *39*(11), 3925–3932.
- González-Martínez, M. A., Puchades, R., and Maquieira, A. (1999). On-line immunoanalysis for environmental pollutants: from batch assays to automated sensors. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 18(3), 204–218. doi: 10.1016/S0165-9936(98)00110-1
- Greene, E. A., Kay, J. G., Jaber, K., Stehmeier, L. G., and Voordouw, G. (2000). Composition of soil microbial communities enriched on a mixture of aromatic hydrocarbons. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(12), 5282–5289.

- Greene, J. C., Bartels, C. L., Warren-Jicks, W. J., Parkhurst, B. R., Linder, G. L., Peterson, S., and Miller, W. E. (1988). *Protocols for short term toxicity screening of hazardous waste sites* (No. 600/3-88/029). Corvallis, OR: US EPA.
- Grossmann, J., and Udluft, P. (1991). The extraction of soil water by the suction-cup method: a review. *Journal of Soil Science*, *42*(1), 83–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2389.1991.tb00093.x
- Haack, S. K., Garchow, H., Klug, M. J., and Forney, L. J. (1995). Analysis of factors affecting the accuracy, reproducibility, and interpretation of microbial community carbon source utilization patterns. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(4), 1458–1468.
- Haney, R. L., Brinton, W. H., and Evans, E. (2008). Estimating soil carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus mineralization from short-term carbon dioxide respiration. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 39(17-18), 2706–2720. doi: 10.1080/00103620802358862
- Hartonen, K., Meissner, G., Kesälä, T., and Riekkola, M.-L. (2000). Pressurized hot water extraction (PHWE) of n-alkanes and polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): Comparison for PAHs with supercritical fluid extraction. *Journal of Microcolumn Separations*, *12*(7), 412–418. doi: 10.1002/1520-667X(2000)12:7<412::AID-MCS5>3.0.CO;2-N
- Hatzinger, P. B., and Alexander, M. (1995). Effect of aging of chemicals in soil on their biodegradability and extractability. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 29(2), 537– 545. doi: 10.1021/es00002a033
- Hawrot-Paw, M. (2012). Influence of diesel fuel on the number of selected soil microorganisms group. *Roczniki Państwowego Zakładu Higieny*, *63*(3), 367–372.

Holman, J. (2011). Experimental Methods for Engineers (8th edition.). Boston: McGraw-Hill.

- Hund, K., and Schenk, B. (1994). The microbial respiration quotient as indicator for bioremediation processes. *Chemosphere*, 28(3), 477–490. doi: 10.1016/0045-6535(94)90292-5
- Hutchinson, G. L., and Mosier, A. R. (1981). Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous oxide fluxes. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 45(2), 311. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500020017x
- Ismailov, A. D., Danilov, V. S., Malkov, I. A., and Egorov, N. S. (1981). Inhibitory analysis of the luminescent electron transport chain of *Photobacterium fischeri*. *Biokhimiia* (Moscow, Russia), 46(1), 40–46.
- ISO. (1993). Soil quality—effects of pollutants on earthworms (Eisenia fetida)—part 1: determination of acute toxicity using artificial soil substrates (ISO 11268-1). International Standard Organization.
- ISO. (1995). Soil quality—determination of the effects of pollutants on soil flora—Part 2: effects of chemicals on the emergence and growth of higher plant (ISO 11269-2). International Standard Organization.
- ISO. (1998a). Water Quality Determination of the Inhibitory Effect of Water Samples on the Light Emission of Vibrio Fischeri (Luminescent Bacteria Test), Part 3: method using freeze-dried bacteria. International Organization for Standardization (ISO 11348-3). International Standard Organization.
- ISO. (1998b). Soil quality—effects of pollutants on earthworms (Eisenia fetida)—part 2: determination of effects on reproduction (ISO 11268-2). International Standard Organization.

- Jaouen-Madoulet, A., Abarnou, A., Le Guellec, A.-M., Loizeau, V., and Leboulenger, F. (2000). Validation of an analytical procedure for polychlorinated biphenyls, coplanar polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in environmental samples. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 886(1–2), 153–173. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9673(00)00422-2
- Jensen, L. S., Mueller, T., Tate, K. R., Ross, D. J., Magid, J., and Nielsen, N. E. (1996). Soil surface CO₂ flux as an index of soil respiration in situ: A comparison of two chamber methods. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 28(10–11), 1297–1306. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00136-8
- Juvonen, R., Martikainen, E., Schultz, E., Joutti, A., Ahtiainen, J., and Lehtokari, M. (2000). A battery of toxicity tests as indicators of decontamination in composting oily waste. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 47(2), 156–166. doi: 10.1006/eesa.2000.1943
- Keddy, C. J., Greene, J. C., and Bonnell, M. A. (1995). Review of whole-organism bioassays: soil, freshwater sediment, and freshwater assessment in Canada. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 30(3), 221–251. doi: 10.1006/eesa.1995.1027
- Keith, L., and Telliard, W. (1979). ES&T Special Report: Priority pollutants: I- a perspective view. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *13*(4), 416–423. doi: 10.1021/es60152a601
- Khodadoust, A. P., Reddy, K. R., and Maturi, K. (2004). Removal of nickel and phenanthrene from kaolin soil using different extractants. *Environmental Engineering Science*, 21(6), 691–704. doi: 10.1089/ees.2004.21.691
- Kleineidam, S., Schüth, C., and Grathwohl, P. (2002). Solubility-normalized combined adsorption-partitioning sorption isotherms for organic pollutants. *Environmental Science* & Technology, 36(21), 4689–4697. doi: 10.1021/es010293b

- Klimkowicz-Pawlas, A., and Maliszewska-Kordybach, B. (2008). Effect of the selected organic solvents on the activity of soil microorganisms. *Roczniki Państwowego Zakładu Higieny*, 59(1), 83–96.
- Koepf, H. (1954). Die biologische Aktivität des Bodens und ihre experimentelle Kennzeichnung. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung, Düngung, Bodenkunde*, 64(2), 138–146. doi: 10.1002/jpln.19540640207
- Kwon, J., Ahn, G., Kim, G., Kim, J. C., and Kim, H. (2009). A study on NDIR-based CO₂ sensor to apply remote air quality monitoring system. *ICCAS-SICE*, 2009 (pp. 1683–1687).
 Presented at the ICCAS-SICE, 2009.
- Labud, V., Garcia, C., and Hernandez, T. (2007). Effect of hydrocarbon pollution on the microbial properties of a sandy and a clay soil. *Chemosphere*, 66(10), 1863–1871. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.08.021
- Lappalainen, J., Juvonen, R., Vaajasaari, K., and Karp, M. (2000). A new flash assay for measuring the toxicity of solid and colored samples. In G. Persoone, C. Janssen, and W. D. Coen (Eds.), *New Microbiotests for Routine Toxicity Screening and Biomonitoring* (pp. 141–143). Springer US.
- Law, B. E., Ryan, M. G., and Anthoni, P. M. (1999). Seasonal and annual respiration of a ponderosa pine ecosystem. *Global Change Biology*, 5(2), 169–182. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2486.1999.00214.x
- Lee, D.-D., and Lee, D.-S. (2001). Environmental gas sensors. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 1(3), 214–224. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2001.954834
- Lin, Q., and Brookes, P. C. (1999). An evaluation of the substrate-induced respiration method. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *31*(14), 1969–1983.

- Liu, P.-W. G., Wang, S.-Y., Huang, S.-G., and Wang, M.-Z. (2012). Effects of soil organic matter and ageing on remediation of diesel-contaminated soil. *Environmental Technology*, 33(23), 2661–2672. doi: 10.1080/09593330.2012.673017
- Livingston, G. P., and Hutchinson, G. L. (1995). Enclosure-based measurement of trace gas exchange: applications and sources of error. *Biogenic Trace Gases: Measuring Emissions from Soil and Water* (pp. 14–50). Cambridge, England: Blackwell Science.
- Lopez-Avila, V., Young, R., and Beckert, W. F. (1994). Microwave-assisted extraction of organic compounds from standard reference soils and sediments. *Analytical Chemistry*, 66(7), 1097–1106. doi: 10.1021/ac00079a027
- Löser, C., Seidel, H., Hoffmann, P., and Zehnsdorf, A. (1999). Bioavailability of hydrocarbons during microbial remediation of a sandy soil. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 51(1), 105–11.
- Maila, M. P., and Cloete, T. E. (2002). Germination of *Lepidium sativum* as a method to evaluate polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) removal from contaminated soil. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 50(2), 107–113. doi: 10.1016/S0964-8305(02)00059-8
- Margesin, R., and Schinner, F. (1997). Bioremediation of diesel-oil-contaminated alpine soils at low temperatures. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 47(4), 462–468. doi: 10.1007/s002530050957
- Margesin, R., Zimmerbauer, A., and Schinner, F. (2000). Monitoring of bioremediation by soil biological activities. *Chemosphere*, *40*(4), 339–346.
- Martí, E., Sierra, J., Sánchez, M., Cruañas, R., and Garau, M. A. (2007). Ecotoxicological tests assessment of soils polluted by chromium (VI) or pentachlorophenol. *Science of the Total*

Environment, Spanish Research on Soil Damage, *378*(1–2), 53–57. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.01.012

- Meyer, S., Cartellieri, S., and Steinhart, H. (1999). Simultaneous determination of PAHs, hetero-PAHs (N, S, O), and their degradation products in creosote-contaminated soils. Method Development, Validation, and Application to Hazardous Waste Sites. *Analytical Chemistry*, 71(18), 4023–4029. doi: 10.1021/ac990136j
- Montserrat, G., Martí, E., Sierra, J., Garau, M. A., and Cruañas, R. (2006). Discriminating inhibitory from enhancing effects in respirometry assays from metal polluted-sewage sludge amended soils. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 34(1), 52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2005.12.005
- Moseley, P. T. (1997). Solid state gas sensors. *Measurement Science and Technology*, 8(3), 223. doi: 10.1088/0957-0233/8/3/003
- Nam, K., Chung, N., and Alexander, M. (1998). Relationship between organic matter content of soil and the sequestration of phenanthrene. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 32(23), 3785–3788. doi: 10.1021/es980428m
- Nannipieri, P., Grego, S., and Ceccanti, B. (1990). Ecological significance of biological activity in soil. *Soil Biochemistry* (Vol. 6, pp. 293–355). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Neethirajan, S., Jayas, D. S., and Sadistap, S. (2009). Carbon dioxide (CO₂) sensors for the agrifood industry: A Review. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 2(2), 115–121. doi: 10.1007/s11947-008-0154-y
- Nicolotti, G., and Egli, S. (1998). Soil contamination by crude oil: impact on the mycorrhizosphere and on the revegetation potential of forest trees. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987)*, 99(1), 37–43.

- Norman, J. M., Garcia, R., and Verma, S. B. (1992). Soil surface CO₂ fluxes and the carbon budget of a grassland. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 97(D17), 18845– 18853. doi: 10.1029/92JD01348
- Núñez, E. V., Rodríguez, V., Gaytán, A. G., Luna-Guido, M., Betancur-Galvis, L. A., Marsch, R., and Dendooven, L. (2009). Using acetone as solvent to study removal of anthracene in soil inhibits microbial activity and alters nitrogen dynamics. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 57(2), 239–246. doi: 10.1007/s00244-008-9253-z
- Oberly, R., Rao, K. N., Hahn, Y. H., and McCubbin Jr., T. K. (1968). Bands of carbon dioxide in the region of 4.3 microns. *Journal of Molecular Spectroscopy*, 25(2), 138–165. doi: 10.1016/0022-2852(68)80002-5
- OECD. (2012). Test No. 211: Daphnia magna Reproduction Test. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from http://www.oecdilibrary.org/content/book/9789264185203-en
- Ordinioha, B., and Brisibe, S. (2013). The human health implications of crude oil spills in the Niger delta, Nigeria: An interpretation of published studies. *Nigerian Medical Journal : Journal of the Nigeria Medical Association*, 54(1), 10–16. doi: 10.4103/0300-1652.108887
- Pandey, S. K., and Kim, K.-H. (2007). The relative performance of NDIR-based sensors in the near real-time analysis of CO₂ in air. *Sensors*, 7(9), 1683–1696.
- Peijnenburg, W., Sneller, E., Sijm, D., Lijzen, J., Traas, T., and Verbruggen, E. (2004). Implementation of bioavailability in standard setting and risk assessment: suggestions

based on a workshop with emphasis on metals. *Arhiv Za Higijenu Rada I Toksikologiju*, 55(4), 273–278.

- Pietravalle, S., and Aspray, T. J. (2013). CO₂ and O₂ respiration kinetics in hydrocarbon contaminated soils amended with organic carbon sources used to determine catabolic diversity. *Environmental Pollution*, 176, 42–47. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.01.009
- Potter, C. L., and Simmons, K. E. (1998). Composition of petroleum mixtures: Total Hydrocarbon Criteria Working Group Series (Vol. 2). Amherst, Massachusetts: Amherst Scientific Publishers.
- Preston-Mafham, J., Boddy, L., and Randerson, P. F. (2002). Analysis of microbial community functional diversity using sole-carbon-source utilisation profiles - a critique. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 42(1), 1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2002.tb00990.x
- Rochette, P., Desjardins, R. L., Gregorich, E. G., Pattey, E., and Lessard, R. (1992). Soil respiration in barley (*Hordeum vulgare L.*) and fallow fields. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 72(4), 591–603. doi: 10.4141/cjss92-049
- Saim, N., and Dean, J. R. (1998). An experimental design approach for the determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from highly contaminated soil using accelerated solvent extraction. *Analytical Chemistry*, 70(2). doi: 10.1021/ac970473x
- Saim, N., Dean, J. R., Abdullah, M. P., and Zakaria, Z. (1997). Extraction of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from contaminated soil using soxhlet extraction, pressurised and atmospheric microwave-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction and accelerated solvent extraction. *Journal of Chromatography*, 791(1–2), 361–366. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9673(97)00768-1

- Saponaro, S., Bonomo, L., Petruzzelli, G., Romele, L., and Barbafieri, M. (2002). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) slurry phase bioremediation of a manufacturing gas plant (MGP) site aged soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 135*(1-4), 219–236. doi: 10.1023/A:1014716502484
- Scelza, R., Antonietta Rao, M., and Gianfreda, L. (2007). Effects of compost and of bacterial cells on the decontamination and the chemical and biological properties of an agricultural soil artificially contaminated with phenanthrene. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, Organic Wastes in Soils: Biochemical and Environmental Aspects Biochemical and Environmental Aspects Second General Annual Conference of European Geosciences Union, Soil System Sciences Division, Session SSS12, Recycling of Organic Wastes in Soils: Biochemical and Environmental Issues, *39*(6), 1303–1317. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.12.006
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Gschwend, P. M., and Imboden, D. M. (2002). *Environmental Organic Chemistry* (2nd ed.). Wiley.
- Shabad, L. M. (1980). Circulation of carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the human environment and cancer prevention. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 64(3), 405–410.
- Shi, W., Bischoff, M., Turco, R., and Konopka, A. (2005). Microbial catabolic diversity in soils contaminated with hydrocarbons and heavy metals. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39(7), 1974–1979.
- Siddiqui, S., and Adams, W. A. (2002). The fate of diesel hydrocarbons in soils and their effect on the germination of perennial ryegrass. *Environmental Toxicology*, *17*(1), 49–62. doi: 10.1002/tox.10032

- Skoog, D. A., Holler, F. J., and Crouch, S. R. (2006). *Principles of Instrumental Analysis* (6th edition.). Belmont, CA: Brooks Cole.
- Sporring, S., Bøwadt, S., Svensmark, B., and Björklund, E. (2005). Comprehensive comparison of classic Soxhlet extraction with Soxtec extraction, ultrasonication extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, microwave assisted extraction and accelerated solvent extraction for the determination of polychlorinated biphenyls in soil. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1090*(1–2), 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2005.07.008
- Stotzky, G., and Norman, A. G. (1961). Factors limiting microbial activities in soil. Archiv für Mikrobiologie, 40(4), 341–369. doi: 10.1007/BF00422050
- Sutton, N. B., Maphosa, F., Morillo, J. A., Al-Soud, W. A., Langenhoff, A. A. M., Grotenhuis, T., Rijnaarts, H. H. M., et al. (2013). Impact of long-term diesel contamination on soil microbial community structure. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(2), 619–630. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02747-12
- Sverdrup, L. E., Nielsen, T., and Krogh, P. H. (2002). Soil ecotoxicity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in relation to soil sorption, lipophilicity, and water solubility. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 36(11), 2429–2435. doi: 10.1021/es010180s
- Tang, J., Wang, M., Wang, F., Sun, Q., and Zhou, Q. (2011). Eco-toxicity of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminated soil. *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)*, 23(5), 845-851.
- Tiensing, T., Preston, S., Strachan, N., and Paton, G. I. (2001). Soil solution extraction techniques for microbial ecotoxicity testing: a comparative evaluation. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 3(1), 91–96.

- Tongol, B. J. V., Binag, C. A., and Sevilla III, F. B. (2003). Surface and electrochemical studies of a carbon dioxide probe based on conducting polypyrrole. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, Proceedings of the Ninth International Meeting on Chemical Sensors, 93(1–3), 187–196. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4005(03)00180-1
- U.S. EPA. (1989). Protocols for Short Term Toxicity Screening of Hazardous Waste Sites. Corvallis, OR: Environmental Research Laboratory, United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- U.S. EPA. (1992). Framework for Ecological Risk Assessment. Risk Assessment Forum, Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- U.S. EPA. (1994a). Method 8410. Gas chromatography/Fourier transform infrared (GC/FTIR) spectrometry for semivolatile organics: Capillary column. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- U.S. EPA. (1994b). Using toxicity tests in ecological risk assessment. Intermittent Bulletin 2(1).Washington, DC: Hazardous Site Evaluation Division, United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- U.S. EPA. (1996a). *Method 8015B: Nonhalogenated organics using GC/FID*. Washington: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- U.S. EPA. (1996b). Method 8270C. Semivolatile organic compounds by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Wagner, E., Dandliker, R., and Spenner, K. (1991). *Optical Sensors, Volume 6, Sensors: A Comprehensive Survey* (6th edition.). Weinheim; New York: Wiley.

- Wahle, U., and Kördel, W. (1997). Development of analytical methods for the assessment of ecotoxicological relevant soil contamination- Part A: Development and improvement of soil extraction methods for the determination of the bioavailable parts of contaminants. *Chemosphere*, 35(1–2), 223–237. doi: 10.1016/S0045-6535(97)00152-5
- Wang, X., Yu, X., and Bartha, R. (1990). Effect of bioremediation on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon residues in soil. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 24(7), 1086–1089. doi: 10.1021/es00077a020
- Wang, Y., Nakayama, M., Yagi, M., Nishikawa, M., Fukunaga, M., and Watanabe, K. (2005).
 The NDIR CO₂ monitor with smart interface for global networking. *IEEE Transactions* on *Instrumentation and Measurement*, 54(4), 1634–1639. doi: 10.1109/TIM.2005.851474
- Wardle, D. A., and Parkinson, D. (1990). Response of the soil microbial biomass to glucose, and selective inhibitors, across a soil moisture gradient. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 22(6), 825–834. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(90)90163-T
- West, A. W., and Sparling, G. P. (1986). Modifications to the substrate-induced respiration method to permit measurement of microbial biomass in soils of differing water contents. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 5, 177–189.
- Wischmann, H., Steinhart, H., Hupe, K., Montresori, G., and Stegmann, R. (1996). Degradation of selected PAHs in soil/compost and identification of intermediates. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 64(4), 247–255. doi: 10.1080/ 03067319608028346
- Wong, D. C. L., Chai, E. Y., Chu, K. K., and Dorn, P. B. (1999). Prediction of ecotoxicity of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils using physicochemical parameters. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 18(11), 2611–2621. doi: 10.1002/etc.5620181131

- WRB. (2006). World reference base for soil resources 2006: a framework for international classification, correlation and communication (No. 103). World soil resources report.
 Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States.
- Yasuda, T., Yonemura, S., and Tani, A. (2012). Comparison of the characteristics of small commercial NDIR CO₂ sensor models and development of a portable CO₂ measurement device. *Sensors*, *12*(3), 3641–3655. doi: 10.3390/s120303641
- Zhu, Q., Qiu, F., Quan, Y., Sun, Y., Liu, S., and Zou, Z. (2005). Solid-electrolyte NASICON thick film CO₂ sensor prepared on small-volume ceramic tube substrate. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 91(2–3), 338–342. doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2004.11.036

APPENDICES



A. Block diagram of data acquisition system

Fig. A-1. Main VI to receive CO₂ sensor analog output from Arduino UNO and log into a text file



Fig. A-2. Sub-VI to read and average CO₂ sensor analog output collected via Arduino UNO

B. SAS models and codes for different experiments

B-1. Glucose optimization experiment

B-1a. SAS model

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + a_i + B_j + (aB)_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$

Assumptions: 1. μ is the unknown overall mean response.

2. a_i is a fixed treatment effect corresponding to the *i*th level of factor a with $\sum_{i=1}^{6} a_i = 0$. Treatments are six glucose concentrations (0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 mg of glucose g⁻¹soil).

3. B_j is a random column effect due to j^{th} level of factor B. The B_js have independent normal distributions, with mean 0 and variance σ_B^2 . Column effects are three soil types selected from the soil classification.

4. $(aB)_{ij}$ is a random effect due to the interaction of the *i*th level of factor a with the *j*th level of factor B. The $(aB)_{ij}$ s have independent normal distributions with mean 0 and variance σ_{aB}^2 .

5. The a_i s, B_j s and $(aB)_{ij}$ s are mutually independent.

B-1b. SAS code

DATA CO2;

INPUT SOIL TRT SLOPE;

DATALINES;

1 1 0.16

;

PROC GLM;

CLASS TRT SOIL; MODEL SLOPE= TRT SOIL; MEANS TRT/TUKEY CLDIFF; MEANS SOIL/ TUKEY CLDIFF; RUN;

B-2. 2 by 2 factorial design for preliminary sensor evaluation

B-2a. SAS model

 $Y_{ijk} = \mu + A_i + B_j + (AB)_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$

Assumptions: 1. μ is the unknown overall mean response.

2. A_i is a random effect due to j^{th} level of factor A. The B*j*s have independent normal distributions, with mean 0 and variance σ_A^2 . Factor A is microbial activity and has two levels: control and sterile.

3. B_j is a random effect due to j^{th} level of factor B. The B_js have independent normal distributions, with mean 0 and variance σ_B^2 . Factor B is glucose addition and has two levels: 10 mg of glucose g⁻¹soil and none.

4. (AB)_{*ij*} is a random effect due to the interaction of the *i*th level of factor a with the *j*th level of factor B. The (AB)_{*ij*}s have independent normal distributions with mean 0 and variance σ_{aB}^2 .

5. ε_{ijk} is a random effect due to all the other factors with ε_{ijk} s independently, normally distributed with mean 0 and variance σ_{ε}^2

5. The A_is, B_js, $(AB)_{ij}$ s are mutually independent.

B-2b. SAS code

DATA CO2;

INPUT SOIL TRT SLOPE;

DATALINES;

1 1 -0.04

;

PROC GLM;

CLASS TRT SOIL;

MODEL SLOPE= TRT SOIL TRT*SOIL;

MEANS TRT/TUKEY CLDIFF;

MEANS SOIL/ TUKEY CLDIFF;

RUN;

B-3. PAH treated soils experiment

B-3a. SAS model

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + a_i + B_j + (aB)_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$

Assumptions: 1. μ is the unknown overall mean response.

2. a_i is a fixed treatment effect corresponding to the *i*th level of factor a with $\sum_{i=1}^{8} a_i = 0$. Treatments are eight phenanthrene concentrations (0, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 25 and 64 mg of phenanthrene per kg of soil).

3. B_j is a random column effect due to j^{th} level of factor B. The B_js have independent normal distributions, with mean 0 and variance σ_B^2 . Column effects are three soil types selected from the soil classification.

4. $(aB)_{ij}$ is a random effect due to the interaction of the *i*th level of factor a with the *j*th level of factor B. The $(aB)_{ij}$ s have independent normal distributions with mean 0 and variance σ_{aB}^2 .

5. The a_i s, B_j s and $(aB)_{ij}$ s are mutually independent.

B-3b. SAS code

DATA CO2;

INPUT SOIL TRT SLOPE;

DATALINES;

1 1 0.53

;

PROC GLM;

CLASS TRT SOIL;

MODEL SLOPE= TRT SOIL;

MEANS TRT/TUKEY CLDIFF;

MEANS SOIL/ TUKEY CLDIFF;

RUN;

B-4. Diesel treated soils experiment

B-4a. SAS model

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + a_i + B_j + (aB)_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$

Assumptions: 1. μ is the unknown overall mean response.

2. a_i is a fixed treatment effect corresponding to the *i*th level of factor a with $\sum_{i=1}^{8} a_i = 0$. Treatments are five diesel concentrations (0, 5, 20, 60 and 150 mg of diesel g⁻¹ of soil)

3. B_j is a random column effect due to j^{th} level of factor B. The B_js have independent normal distributions, with mean 0 and variance σ_B^2 . Column effects are three soil types selected from the soil classification.

4. $(aB)_{ij}$ is a random effect due to the interaction of the *i*th level of factor a with the *j*th level of factor B. The $(aB)_{ij}$ s have independent normal distributions with mean 0 and variance σ_{aB}^2 .

5. The a_i s, B_j s and $(aB)_{ij}$ s are mutually independent.

B-4b. SAS code

DATA CO2;

INPUT SOIL TRT SLOPE;

DATALINES;

1 1 0.36

;

PROC GLM;

CLASS TRT SOIL;

MODEL SLOPE= TRT SOIL TRT*SOIL;

MEANS TRT/TUKEY CLDIFF;

MEANS SOIL/ TUKEY CLDIFF;

RUN;